FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/2/2022 4:24 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/3/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. <u>100613-6</u> COURT OF APPEALS NO. 80576-2-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN EDWARD SHANNON, JR.,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Keto Shaw, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

At trial, Mr. Shannon presented a self-defense theory to the jury that relied in part on racial dynamics between him (Black) and the complainant (white). Mr. Shannon testified he thought the complainant was an undercover police officer and feared for his life, counsel's cross examination of the state's witnesses and the defense case-in-chief highlighted that the complainant and his friends seemed to harbor prejudice against Mr. Shannon and his friends, and his counsel argued in summation that, based on the way a young Black man

¹ Pursuant to RAP 13.4(c)(9), the Court of Appeals slip opinion is appended to this petition and cited accordingly.

experiences the world, Mr. Shannon's perception of a deadly threat and his reaction were objectively reasonable.

Mr. Shannon attempted to elicit testimony from the complainant that he and his friends talked after the incident and said that the whole thing started because someone said, "get out of here white boy" to the complainant or called him "white boy." The trial court excluded this evidence based on the state's hearsay objections and, puzzlingly, because it involved a postincident conversation rather than conversation contemporaneous with the shooting incident.

The Court of Appeals did not meaningfully address the trial court's bases for exclusion. Instead, despite Mr. Shannon's reliance on race in his defense, the Court of Appeals held the excluded evidence was irrelevant and therefore Mr. Shannon had failed to show a manifest constitutional error.

1. Because the excluded evidence was highly corroborative of and therefore relevant to Mr. Shannon's self-defense theory that relied on racial dynamics—confirming that

those racial dynamics were at play on both ends of the equation—did excluding the testimony violate Mr. Shannon's constitutional rights to present evidence in his defense and should the Court of Appeals decision be reviewed as both an important constitutional issue (RAP 13.4(b)(3)) and a matter of public importance (RAP 13(b)(4)), as the decision erroneously diminishes the presentation of race evidence in the courts?

2. Given that the defense objected to the excluded evidence and race was obviously at issue in Mr. Shannon's trial, does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with Washington Supreme Court precedent on the manifestness of a constitutional error, such that review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The February 4, 2018 incident

In the early morning hours of February 4, 2018, Mr. Shannon, Tiffani Dejohnette, and their other friends were hanging out and playing darts in the back of a bar in downtown

Renton. RP² 858, 919-20. Mr. Shannon is a young Black man. Mr. McKnight, who is white, was in the same bar with a group of his white friends and was in the same back area playing a punching arcade game. RP 434-35, 542-43, 686.

At some point, Mr. McKnight started "just looking at" Mr. Shannon's group, and then approached the group and said something to the effect that they looked like a "sinister" group. RP 870, 929. Mr. Shannon was taken aback, Mr. McKnight continued speaking to them, and when Mr. Shannon implied Ms. Dejohnette was not listening to him, Mr. McKnight took offense and got aggressive. RP 930-31. Ms. Dejohnette described Mr. McKnight as trying to start a fight. RP 871. Mr. McKnight acknowledged he remembered saying Mr. Shannon's group being sinister. RP 545-46.

Mr. McKnight stated to Mr. Shannon that they should go outside and Mr. Shannon said, "Let's go," and they left the bar.

² Mr. Shannon refers to the consecutively paginated 1150-page trial transcript as "RP." No other transcripts are referenced in this petition.

RP 931, 933. Ms. Dejohnette said Mr. McKnight said, "if they wanted to talk like men, then they should go outside." RP 872. Mr. Shannon said he intended to talk this man down because he did not understand what was wrong. RP 937-38.

When Mr. McKnight was behind Mr. Shannon outside the bar, Mr. Knight told him to "freeze motherfucker." RP 940. Mr. McKnight took the posture as though he were reaching for a weapon on his hip and, based on his words and behavior, Mr. Shannon thought that Mr. McKnight might be an undercover cop. RP 939-41. Mr. McKnight said, "Don't fucking move" and threatened to blow his head off. RP 941. Mr. Shannon explained that he feared for his life and that any movement or gesture he made would result in his death. RP 941

Ms. Dejohnette followed them out shortly after. RP 872. She said Mr. McKnight was screaming he would "shoot him in his fucking face" repeatedly at Mr. Shannon. RP 876. Ms. Dejohnette went back inside and told Mr. McKnight's friend

Richard Durant that the conflict outside was growing "heated." RP 439-40.

Mr. Durant headed outside and heard loud voices. RP 442. He said he saw Mr. Shannon and Mr. McKnight three or four feet apart, it sounded like Mr. McKnight was asking Mr. Shannon a question, and then saw Mr. Shannon fire on Mr. McKnight. RP 443-44. Mr. Durant described Mr. Shannon as acting, "without any thought process. Like, it was second nature." RP 444.

Mr. Shannon testified that when Mr. Durant approached, he saw an opportunity to escape Mr. McKnight because Mr. McKnight looked away toward Mr. Durant. RP 943. Mr. Shannon at that point took his gun out from his waist and fired multiple times on Mr. McKnight. RP 877, 943-44.

Mr. McKnight said he remembered being outside the bar, turning around, and seeing Mr. Shannon close behind him. RP 549. Mr. Shannon was "messing around" with his belt and thought Mr. Shannon had a knife. RP 459. Mr. McKnight froze,

said "whoa" multiple times and then Mr. Shannon started shooting; it all happened quickly. RP 449-50.

Mr. McKnight stumbled back toward the bar, was bleeding, and people started administering aid. RP 445, 504. He sustained gunshot wounds to his thumb, arm, face, torso, buttocks, and spine. RP 560-66.

Mr. Shannon left the scene, telling witnesses to call 911 and believing that they would fairly express what happened to police. RP 944, 976-77. He described feeling a flurry of emotions over believing that he was going to be killed and having shot someone. RP 945, 973. He walked away approached a random vehicle, and told the driver that someone had just tried to kill him, he had to shoot him, and he needed a ride to his cousin's; the driver took Mr. Shannon to his cousin's. RP 946.

2. The excluded "white boy" evidence

During the cross examination of Mack McClinton, one of Mr. McKnight's friends who was there that evening, defense counsel tried to elicit that someone had told him that the whole

dispute between Mr. McKnight and Mr. Shannon started over someone telling Mr. McKnight, "Get out of here white boy" or calling him a "white boy." RP 708-09. The state objected based on hearsay, speculation, and facts not in evidence, and the trial court sustained the objections based on hearsay, thereby excluding the evidence. RP 708-09. When defense counsel later addressed the evidence, the court also stated it was not admissible because the evidence pertained to postincident conversation rather than something that happened at the time of the incident. RP 712-13. The trial court gave no legal basis for this exclusion.

3. The racial dynamics self-defense theory presented by Mr. Shannon

During voir dire, the issue of race was discussed several times, including the impact that having a Black defendant and a white complainant might have on ensuring a fair trial; jurors expressed varying views on race, prejudice, and bias and whether it would, could, or should have an impact on a criminal prosecution generally or on this prosecution in particular. RP

216-20, 234-47, 270-72, 282-88. In summation, the defense reminded jurors of these discussions and argued, "there are racial dynamics at work in this situation, and you can see them on the video. You can seem them in this case." RP 1071, 1076-77. Defense counsel argued that a "young black man experiences the world differently than a young white man. It's a very straightforward proposition." RP 1077. Counsel emphasized the need to view the situation from Mr. Shannon's perspective:

But you also have to ask yourself whether or not that perspective is reasonable in light of everything that he knew. And everything that he knew includes a lifetime of growing up black in America. And maybe that puts him a little more on guard. Maybe if -- if somebody came up to you and pulled out keys and said they were going to blow your head off, maybe you might not be worried. Maybe you'd laugh and say, "Those are keys, dude."

But Steven Shannon didn't have that luxury in that dark parking lot that night.

RP 1078. Defense counsel also argued, "when the person doing it is a white man and you are a young black man, it might make the threat more realistic to you. It might mean that you're less

likely to laugh it off, and you need to take that into consideration." RP 1079.

Racial tension was also implied through the testimony. Mr. McKnight's and Mr. Shannon's interaction started because Mr. McKnight kept staring them down and then approached them to tell them they looked sinister. RP 870, 929. Mr. McKnight's friend Mr. Durant said he would not associate with the "type of people" in the back of the bar where Mr. McKnight encountered Mr. Shannon's group of (Black) friends. RP 474. Mr. Durant also described the shooting in an interesting way, as Mr. Shannon acting "without any thought process. Like, it was second nature." RP 444.

Mr. Shannon's testimony was central to this theory as well, describing that he thought he was being threatened by white undercover police officer telling him to "freeze motherfucker" and assuming a law enforcement type arming posture; Mr. Shannon testified he needed to hold perfectly still or would be

shot and killed based on Mr. McKnight's words and conduct. RP 939-41.

4. Appeal

The jury returned a guilty verdict on first degree assault, including a firearm special verdict. RP 1112-14; CP 63-64. The trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 108 months, a 60-month firearm sentence enhancement, and 36 months of community custody. CP 42-43; RP 1146-47.

Mr. Shannon appealed. CP 63. He argued, among other things, that the trial court erred by excluding the "white boy evidence," and that the exclusion violated his Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 rights to cross-examine witnesses and his right to present relevant evidence in his defense. Br. of Appellant at 13-25.

The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Shannon's arguments by concluding that only Mr. Shannon's state of mind was at issue in the self-defense case. <u>Shannon</u>, slip op. at 7. It concluded that the state of mind of Mr. McKnight or his associates were not

relevant to Mr. Shannon's self-defense claim. <u>Id.</u> at 7-8. And, because Mr. Shannon did not present evidence that he heard or made the "white boy" statement, the evidence was not probative to Mr. Shannon's state of mind. <u>Id.</u> at 8. The Court of Appeals concluded that Mr. Shannon failed to raise a constitutional issue and that even if he had, he has not shown prejudice. <u>Id.</u> It reasoned that because Mr. Shannon was permitted to present and argue other race-related evidence, the error in excluding the "white boy" evidence was not manifest. Id.

D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

The "white boy" evidence was highly relevant to Mr. Shannon's self-defense theory because it confirmed his perception that racial dynamics were at play, whether he personally heard the statement or whether the statement was even ever spoken

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the state constitution guarantee accused persons the right to a complete defense and to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses. <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974); <u>Chambers v.</u>

Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); State v. Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 347, 352, 482 P.3d 913 (2021). "Cross examination is the principal means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." Davis, 415 U.S. at 315. The more essential the witness is for the prosecution, the more latitude the defense should be given to explore motive, bias, credibility, or foundational matters. State v. Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 354, 482 P.3d 913 (2021); State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). Cross-examination to confront a witness's bias is particularly important. Davis, 415 U.S. at 31.

The question whether the trial court's evidentiary ruling violated Sixth Amendment rights is reviewed de novo. Orn, 197 Wn.2d at 350. If a claim is raised under evidence rules, it is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. at 351. However, if the trial court misapplies the legal standard or misunderstands the law, it necessarily abuses its discretion by denying a criminal defendant's constitutional rights. Id.

The three-part framework developed in State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983), is the controlling framework. Orn, 197 Wn.2d at 353. That framework asks (1) if the excluded evidence was minimally relevant, (2) whether the evidence was "so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the factfinding process at trial," and, "if so, (3) whether the State's interest in excluding the prejudicial evidence outweighs the defendant's need to present it." Id. (quoting Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 15). If the evidence is of at least minimal relevancy, the state must demonstrate a compelling interest in excluding it. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 16. There is no compelling interest the state can show in excluding highly probative evidence that deprives the defense from presenting its version of the incident. Id. at 16-18; State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 721, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).

The Court of Appeals stopped at the first step of the analysis.³ It concluded the evidence was not relevant. Shannon,

³ The Court of Appeals did not meaningfully address the trial court's bases for excluding the evidence, hearsay and based on

slip op. at 7-8. It reasoned that only a defendant's state of mind was relevant in a self-defense case. <u>Id.</u> at 7. Because Mr. Shannon had not heard the "white boy" statement, the court held the statement was not probative of Mr. Shannon's state of mind. <u>Id.</u> at 8.

The Court of Appeals is mistaken. Any evidence that corroborated Mr. Shannon's state of mind that racial dynamics were at play during the incident allowed him to fully present his version of events and a coherent defense theory. Although there was no evidence the statement influenced his state of mind at the time of the incident (or that the statement was even made), the defense argued race was a reasonable component of his state of mind at the time of the incident, and the "white boy" testimony

when the conversation about the "white boy" comment occurred. RP 708-09, 712-13. The Court of Appeals seemed to accept the proposition that there was no basis to exclude the "white boy" statement based on hearsay because it went to Mr. McKnight's (and other's) state of mind under ER 803(a)(2). Shannon, slip op. at 7-8 & n.4. And if the prosecution can't demonstrate even a basic evidentiary error, it certainly cannot show that the excluded evidence would disrupt a fair factfinding process. See Br. of Appellant at 19-23.

shows that Mr. Shannon wasn't wrong or unreasonable in thinking so. It also corroborates some of the bias against Mr. Shannon Mr. McKnight and his friends exhibited, which in turn explains why Mr. Shannon might have reasonably felt, in a racial way, more on edge that evening. The excluded evidence would allow Mr. Shannon to rely on something beyond his own feelings and perceptions that race was a factor in the episode; Mr. McKnight felt it also and confirmed as much after the fact. This was highly probative defense evidence because it lends credibility to Mr. Shannon's overall self-defense theory, which depended not only on the racial dynamics of the situation but also on convincing jurors that racial dynamics were a reasonable part of the situation and should be taken into account to acquit Mr. Shannon.

Race was indeed an issue at trial, discussed a lot during voir dire, and focused on by the defense in eliciting evidence and arguing the self-defense standard to the jury. Mr. McKnight and his friends treated Mr. Shannon's group poorly, staring at them,

calling them sinister, and one of them saying he would not associate with "that type" of person. Mr. Shannon described being fearful for his life based on the language and the conduct of Mr. McKnight, believing he was perhaps an undercover police officer. Counsel urged the jury to consider the racial dynamics of the case, discussing Mr. Shannon's state of mind and how his perception of being confronted with a white man, perhaps a police officer, put him on edge differently because of his race, and reasonably made threats seem surer. Counsel asked the jury to consider what was reasonable in terms of the self-defense standard from the perspective of "growing up black in America." RP 1078.

Because race was a central component of Mr. Shannon's defense, all evidence that supported this theory or Mr. Shannon's credibility in presenting this theory was relevant. The right of Black defendants to fully present relevant race evidence in their defense presents an important constitutional question that the

Court of Appeals decided incorrectly, meriting RAP 13.4(b)(3) review.

As a broader policy matter, the defense should be given leeway to present evidence that helps frame the issue of race and place the facts of a case into a racial context or narrative. This is especially true in a time of increased focus on issues of racial justice and reform of some aspects of the criminal legal system. Mr. Shannon was denied an opportunity to present evidence that supported his racial perspective of the events to the jury in a self-defense case where his racial perspective was a large part of his defense. In addition to violating his constitutional rights, this matter is one of public interest because the Court of Appeals decision diminishes the value of race evidence presented in the courts. The decision should be reviewed per RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In addition, the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed for another reason—its misapplication of RAP 2.5(a) and the <u>Hudlow</u> review standard that was recently reaffirmed in <u>Orn</u>. According to the Court of Appeals, even if Mr. Shannon is

correct that the exclusion was constitutional error, it was not prejudicial and therefore not manifest. Shannon, slip op. at 8. This is supposedly so because Mr. Shannon got to present other race evidence and arguments to the jury. Id. The Court of Appeals is saying that the "white boy" evidence coming from a state's witness would essentially just be cumulative.

The constitution demands more under Mr. Shannon's reading of Hudlow. Even if evidence is of just minimal relevancy, it still cannot constitutionally be excluded unless the state's interest in excluding it is compelling in nature. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 16. The Court of Appeals identifies no compelling state interest or even any evidentiary bar to the "white boy" evidence. The Court of Appeals does not even address the evidentiary bases the trial court gave for the exclusion of the evidence in concluding its error was not manifest, but implies that hearsay is not a barrier. Shannon, slip op. at 7-8 & n.4. Once the relevancy is established and the state shows no compelling interest, the question of whether the error is harmless might

remain but this analysis occurs "after the court determines the error is a manifest constitutional error and is a separate inquiry." State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 585, 355 P.3d 253 (2015). In sum, the Court of Appeals fails to apply the correct analysis under <u>Hudlow</u> and conflates what should be addressed as constitutional harmlessness analysis with RAP 2.5(a) analysis. This merits RAP 13.4(b)(1) review in light of the conflict.

In addition, the Court of Appeals' manifestness analysis is in conflict with Kalebaugh. The error in excluding the "white boy" evidence was manifest because it was important in light of all the other race evidence presented and discussed at trial, particularly because it was only such evidence to come from a state's witness. The question of "prejudice" under RAP 2.5(a) boils down to practical and identifiable consequences: "the appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d at 584 (quoting State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217

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