FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/4/2022 11:42 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100613-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN EDWARD SHANNON, JR.,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

A soundless surveillance video from the bar showed the events inside the bar and the area outside the front entrance but did not capture the parking lot where the shooting took place.

1RP 381-82; 2RP 28. An extremely poor-quality surveillance video from a nearby business captured the area of the shooting and showed six muzzle flashes, but it depicted only vague shadows of McKnight's and Shannon's movement. 1RP 794, 805, 824, 829.

At trial, the State presented testimony from McKnight,
Durant, two other friends who were at the bar with them, the
bartender working that night, a trauma surgeon, and numerous
police officers.

One of the friends who testified was Mack McClinton. McClinton was with McKnight and Durant the night of the shooting but did not notice any part of McKnight's interaction with Shannon—he did not realize anything was wrong until he heard gunshots and was informed by Durant that McKnight had been shot. 1RP 688-89. During cross-examination, Shannon, through his counsel, asked McClinton whether someone later told him "that the whole thing started because somebody said something to the effect of, 'Get out of here white boy[]'?" 1RP 708. The State objected on hearsay grounds. 1RP 708. Shannon responded that the statement "doesn't go to the truth of the matter asserted. It goes to the mindset of the group of the people discussing the issue." 1RP 708. The court sustained the

objection but stated that Shannon could rephrase the question.

1RP 708.

Shannon then elicited that McClinton had a conversation with McKnight and Durant at some point after the incident.

1RP 709. Other testimony indicated that this conversation happened at least 10 days, but perhaps considerably longer, after the shooting. 1RP 465, 558. Shannon asked McClinton to confirm that, during the conversation, "you think that either Rich [Durant] or Ian [McKnight] told you that the whole thing started because someone called Ian a white boy; right?" 1RP 709. The State objected, and the trial court sustained the objection. 1RP 709. The record does not reflect what

_

³ Durant testified that he was not allowed to see McKnight at the hospital. 1RP 466. The next time he saw McKnight after the shooting was a night when they watched a pay-per-view UFC fight together at McKnight's residence. 1RP 465. McKnight was in the hospital for 10 days. 1RP 558.

⁴ Neither McKnight nor Durant corroborated McClinton's memory of the conversation.

McClinton's answer would have been had he been permitted to answer either question.

The next time the jury was out of the room, Shannon explained that "[t]he purpose of that question [wa]s not to elicit hearsay because I don't -- I'm not offering it for the truth of the matter asserted. I don't believe that statement was made. But I believe it goes to the state of mind of Mr. McClinton, Mr. Durant, and Mr. McKnight that they discussed that as the reason." 1RP 712-13. The Court stated, "I am sustaining the objection because, again, it was after the fact and not at the -- at the time of the incident. [The] [q]uestion was about a conversation afterwards and not during and so the Court is sustaining that objection." 1RP 713.

After the State rested, Shannon presented testimony by

Dejohnette and took the stand in his own defense. Shannon

claimed that when McKnight suggested they go outside the bar,

⁵ Neither Shannon nor anyone else present at the bar reported hearing anyone call McKnight "white boy."

he had no idea why and he expected that they would merely talk about their disagreement when they exited the bar. 1RP 932-33. Shannon also claimed that as soon as they got outside, McKnight began acting like a police officer and demanding that Shannon freeze, put his hands up, and empty his pockets, as well as threatening to "blow [his] head off." 1RP 939-41.

Shannon claimed that McKnight's hand had been in his pocket and that Shannon's hands had been in the air throughout the entire encounter except when he turned his coat pockets inside out at McKnight's demand. 1RP 939-41. This contradicted the testimony of Dejohnette and Durant, both of whom testified that Shannon's hands were at his sides or in his pockets throughout the encounter. 1RP 448, 907. At one point in his testimony, Shannon claimed that he thought he saw a gun in McKnight's pocket, but at another point he testified that he did not see a gun but merely became scared because McKnight made a motion as if he was going to pull out a weapon. 1RP 939, 971.

Shannon asserted that he pulled out his gun and shot McKnight out of fear while McKnight was momentarily distracted by Durant calling his name. 1RP 941-43. He told the jury that he did not call the police after the shooting because he was overcome with the stress of the situation. 1RP 945. Shannon admitted that he left the scene immediately after he shot McKnight, but claimed without corroboration that, as he left, he yelled to the bartender and others who had run out to the bar's smoking area, "Somebody call the police. This guy [referring to McKnight] just shot to kill me." 1RP 944, 974-75. Shannon admitted that he never told the police his account of the shooting and claimed that he had believed his parting words at the crime scene were sufficient to inform them that he had acted in self-defense. 1RP 949, 973. However, the bartender testified that as Shannon walked away, the only thing he did was turn back to make a gesture toward the area where the bartender and one of Shannon's friends were standing that seemed to say "we gotta go." 1RP 655, 658-59, 1098.

Shannon admitted that he did not return home after the shooting and instead stayed with a cousin in Portland, Oregon, for the next three weeks, and then with another cousin in Federal Way for another three weeks. 1RP 947-48. On crossexamination, Shannon claimed to not remember the name of the friend who drove him to Portland. 1RP 1000. He admitted that he'd shaved his dreadlocks off and gotten rid of the gun as a result of the shooting. 1RP 999. He also admitted that he'd known since at least April 2018 that there was a warrant out for his arrest, but that he never turned himself in and was finally found by police in December 2018. 1RP 1001-02. Critically, Shannon admitted that McKnight tried to evade the bullets as he was shooting, and that Shannon adjusted his aim and continued shooting McKnight as he was moving. 1RP 1005-06. Shannon also admitted that McKnight started running away towards the end and that the final shot—the shot that would have killed McKnight if not for emergency surgery—hit him from behind. 1RP 1005.

In closing, the State argued that Shannon's account of the shooting was inconsistent with what Durant and even Dejohnette saw and was therefore not credible. 1RP 1046, 1098. The State also argued that even if the jury believed Shannon's version of events, he was still guilty. 1RP 1058. The prosecutor pointed out that Shannon had the upper hand once he had a gun pointed at McKnight, and at that point had no reasonable belief that shooting at him once, let alone six times, was necessary. 1RP 1058, 1097. He also pointed out that even if Shannon had reasonably believed that shooting McKnight was necessary to save his own life, he used more force than necessary when he continued shooting as McKnight was trying to escape. 1RP 1097-98, 1105.

Shannon argued in closing that he reasonably feared for his life when McKnight threatened to "blow [his] . . . head off," and shot McKnight in lawful self-defense. 1RP 1079, 1086-87. Although Shannon had not testified about the racial dynamics of his confrontation with McKnight or suggested that his

identity as a Black man or McKnight's identity as a White man played any role in the incident, Shannon's counsel was permitted to argue, without objection,⁶ that the racial dynamics of the situation likely made McKnight's threat to "blow his face off" seem more realistic to Shannon than it might appear to a white person. 1RP 917-1006, 1076-79.

The jury found Shannon guilty as charged of assault in the first degree while armed with a firearm. CP 37-38.

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BECAUSE THIS CASE DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Shannon failed to establish a manifest constitutional violation warranting review under RAP 2.5(a) of his claim that the exclusion of the challenged testimony violated his constitutional right to present

⁶ The State's sole objection during Shannon's closing arose when defense counsel started to use his own experiences as a white man to illustrate the contrast between the lived experiences of a black man and a white man. 1RP 1077. The State's objection to "facts not in evidence" was overruled. 1RP 1077.

a defense. As a result, they did not reach alternative arguments, such as the fact that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Because none of the criteria for review are present here, and because a reversal on the RAP 2.5 issue would not affect the outcome of the case, this Court should deny review.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to cross examine witnesses and present a defense under the Sixth Amendment of the federal constitution and article I, section 22 of our state constitution. State v. Wade, 186 Wn. App. 749, 763, 346 P.3d 838 (2015); State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). However, the evidence presented by the defendant "must be of at least minimal relevance"—a defendant has no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 621.

Additionally, a "defendant's right to present a defense is subject to 'established rules of procedure and evidence designed

to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence." State v. Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. 530, 553, 364 P.3d 810 (2015) (quoting Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973)). Although "the long-standing rule against the admission of hearsay evidence 'may not be applied mechanistically" to exclude critical evidence bearing "persuasive assurances of trustworthiness" equivalent to longstanding hearsay exceptions, a defendant's constitutional right is not violated by the exclusion of hearsay lacking such assurances of trustworthiness. Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. at 553, 557 (quoting Chambers, 410 U.S. at 302).

When reviewing a claim that the right to present a defense was violated, appellate courts utilize a two-step standard of review. State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 797, 453 P.3d 696 (2019). First, the court "review[s] the trial court's evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion and defer[s] to those rulings unless no reasonable person would take the view

adopted by the trial court." State v. Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 648, 389 P.3d 462 (2017) (internal quotation marks omitted); also Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 797. If the trial court made a reasonable evidentiary ruling that excluded relevant defense evidence, the reviewing court next "determine[s] as a matter of law whether the exclusion violated the constitutional right to present a defense." Clark, 187 Wn.2d at 648-49; also Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 797.

In evaluating whether the State had disproved Shannon's self-defense claim, the jury had to evaluate whether Shannon reasonably believed that he was about to be injured and whether he use no more force than was necessary, "taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to [Shannon] at the time of and prior to the incident." CP 28.

Shannon argued in the Court of Appeals that the trial court should have admitted McClinton's answers about someone telling him that the altercation started because someone called McKnight "white boy" because the testimony

was relevant (1) as "evidence that the fight started because of a racial issue" and (2) as evidence of McKnight's and Durant's "state of mind at the time of the incident." Br. of Appellant at 19, 22. Shannon has now abandoned the former argument and raises only a modified version of the second, arguing that the excluded testimony was relevant because it corroborated his alleged perception—about which Shannon never testified—that "racial dynamics were at play during the incident." Petition for Review at 15.

As a preliminary matter, the record does not indicate how McClinton would have testified had he been permitted to answer Shannon's questions. 1RP 708-09, 712-13. On that basis alone, Shannon failed to establish that the trial court erred or that the asserted error prejudiced his rights at trial. ER 103(a)(2).

Even assuming that McClinton would have answered the questions as Shannon hoped, the only person whose state of mind was relevant to Shannon's self-defense claim was

Shannon's. See, e.g., State v. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. 306, 319, 402 P.3d 281 (2017) (information about victim is relevant to self-defense claim only if that information was known to the defendant); see also Br. of Respondent at 22-25. And even if the state of mind of the victims or witnesses during the incident were somehow relevant, a false statement about the cause of the altercation made by an unspecified person and relayed in a conversation weeks *after* the incident had no relevance to anyone's state of mind *during* the incident. Because there is no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence, the trial court properly excluded the challenged testimony. See Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 648-49; Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720.

However, even if this Court were to find that the excluded hearsay was somehow marginally relevant, Shannon's constitutional right to present a defense was not violated, because, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the exclusion of the evidence did not prevent Shannon from using other admitted evidence to argue to the jury that the racial dynamics

of the altercation heightened the reasonability of his belief that he needed to defend himself. Slip op. at 8; <u>Arndt</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 813-14 (no violation of right to present a defense where court's limitations did not prevent defendant from advancing her defense theory through other evidence). Shannon's argument would have been no stronger had the challenged testimony been admitted.

Shannon fails to establish that any of the criteria for review are satisfied in this case. He asserts that this is a matter of substantial public interest because "because the Court of Appeals decision diminishes the value of race evidence presented in the courts," but the dispositive issue here is a simple one of relevance. Petition at 18. Whether a particular false statement made weeks after the shooting is relevant to Shannon's self-defense claim is not an issue of substantial public interest.

Shannon also asserts that the Court of Appeals misapplied RAP 2.5(a) and the framework set out in <u>State v.</u>

Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983), for evaluating claims regarding the right to present a defense. Petition at 18-21. However, his true complaint about the Court of Appeals' reasoning is not that they misapplied RAP 2.5 or Hudlow—he does not dispute that the exclusion of irrelevant evidence does not violate a defendant's right to present a defense and is thus not a manifest constitutional error. See Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 15 ("[A] criminal defendant has no constitutional right to have irrelevant evidence admitted."). Instead, Shannon's primary complaint is simply that he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' conclusion that an erroneous statement about the cause of the fight, made weeks later, was not relevant to whether Shannon reasonably believed he was in was about to be injured and used no more force than necessary when he shot at McKnight six times. Because Shannon fails to establish that any of the criteria for review are present in this case, this Court should deny the petition for review.

If this Court grants review of this issue and reverses the Court of Appeals' RAP 2.5 analysis, it should also address related issues the Court of Appeals did not reach, such as whether any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As explained in the Brief of Respondent, Shannon's claim fails on that basis as well. Br. of Respondent at 29-30.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 4,381 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.